1	MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ. Nevada Bar No.: 1641			
2	mbohn@bohnlawfirm.com			
3	MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ., LTD.			
4	MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ., LTD. 2260 Corporate Circle, Ste. 480 Henderson, Nevada 89074		Electronically Filed Jul 01 2021 04:51	p.m.
5	(702) 642-3113/ (702) 642-9766 FAX Attorney for plaintiff/appellant Saticoy Bay LLC Series 4641 Viareggio Ct		Elizabeth A. Brown	S
6	Saticoy Bay LLC Series 4641 Viareggio Ci	t	Clerk of Supreme	Court
7				
8	SUPREME	COURT		
9	STATE OF 1	NEVADA		
10	STATE OF	NEVADA		
11	SATICOY BAY LLC SERIES 4641 VIAREGGIO CT,	No. 82449		
12	Appellant,	110. 02 119		
13	VS.			
14				
15	NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC,			
16	D 1 .			
17	Respondent.			
18				
19

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether the HOA foreclosure sale held on August 22, 2013 extinguished the deed of trust assigned to Nationstar Mortgage, LLC (hereinafter "defendant").
- 2. Whether Nevada law controls whether the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (hereinafter "Freddie Mac") held any enforceable interest in the real property commonly known as 4641 Viareggio Court, Las Vegas, Nevada (hereinafter "Property") on August 22, 2013.
- 3. Whether Freddie Mac complied with Nevada law to hold an enforceable interest in the Guillory deed of trust on August 22, 2013.
- 4. Whether the opinions in <u>In re Monteirth</u> and <u>Daisy Trust</u> excuse Freddie Mac's failure to comply with the mandatory language in NRS 111.205(1) and NRS 111.315.
- 5. Whether FHFA consent was required even though Freddie Mac did not hold any enforceable interest in the Guillory deed of trust.
- 6. Whether Saticoy Bay LLC Series 4641 Viareggio Ct. (hereinafter "plaintiff") has standing to assert the separate statute of frauds in NRS 111.205(1).
- 7. Whether NRS 111.325 protected plaintiff from defendant's unrecorded claim that Freddie Mac held an interest in the Guillory deed of trust.

- 8. Whether 12 U.S.C. § 4617 preempts Nevada's recording statutes that make any interest in the deed of trust claimed by Freddie Mac void as to plaintiff.
- 9. An order granting summary judgment is reviewed de novo without deference to the findings of the lower court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 25, 2013, plaintiff filed a complaint asserting four claims for relief: 1) entry of an injunction prohibiting defendant from foreclosing a deed of trust recorded on January 25, 2007 against the real property commonly known as 4641 Viareggio Court, Las Vegas, Nevada (hereinafter "Property"); 2) entry of a judgment pursuant to NRS 40.010 determining that plaintiff was the rightful owner of the Property and that the defendants had no right, title, interest or claim to the Property; 3) entry of a declaration that title to the Property was vested in plaintiff free and clear of all liens and that the defendants be forever enjoined from asserting any right, title, interest or claim to the Property; and 4) entry of a writ of restitution restoring possession of the Property to plaintiff. (Appellant's Appendix ("AA"), Vol. 1, AA000001-AA000007)

On March 13, 2015, defendant filed an answer and counterclaim in response to plaintiff's complaint. (AA Vol. 1, AA000016-AA000167)

On March 19,	, 2015, plaintiff filed a motio	on to dismiss counterclaim. (AA Vol
1, AA000168-AA00	00197)	
1, 1111000100-111100	00177)	

On April 20, 2015, defendant filed an opposition to plaintiff's motion to dismiss counterclaim and a countermotion for summary judgment. (AA Vol. 2, AA000198-AA000332)

On April 29, 2015, Naples Community Homeowners Association (hereinafter "HOA") filed a motion to dismiss defendant's counterclaim as to the HOA. (AA Vol. 2, AA000333-AA000394)

On May 4, 2015, plaintiff filed a reply in support of plaintiff's motion to dismiss counterclaim and opposition to countermotion for summary judgment. (AA Vol. 2, AA000395-AA000407)

On May 18, 2015, defendant filed an opposition to the HOA's motion to dismiss defendant's counterclaim. (AA Vol. 2, AA000408-AA000447)

On June 11, 2015, the HOA filed a reply in support of its motion to dismiss defendant's counterclaim. (AA Vol. 3, AA000448-AA000453)

On July 28, 2015, the court entered an order granting plaintiff's motion to dismiss and denying defendant's countermotion for summary judgment. (AA Vol. 3, AA000454-AA000468)

On August 12, 2015, the court entered an order granting the HOA's motion to dismiss defendant's counterclaim without prejudice. (AA Vol. 3, AA000469-AA000477)

On May 15, 2017, plaintiff filed a motion for summary judgment. (AA Vol. 3, AA000478-AA000646)

On July 31, 2017, plaintiff filed a motion for default judgment against Monique Guillory (hereinafter "Guillory").(AA Vol. 3, AA000647-AA000657)

On August 10, 2017, defendant filed an opposition to plaintiff's motion for summary judgment. (AA Vol. 4, AA000658-AA000814)

On August 29, 2017, plaintiff filed a motion for voluntary dismissal against defendant Cooper Castle Law Firm, LLP. (AA Vol. 5, AA000951-AA000954)

On September 12, 2017, the court entered findings of fact, conclusions of law, and judgment granting plaintiff's motion for summary judgment and quieting the title held by plaintiff. (AA Vol. 5, AA000955-AA000967)

On September 13, 2017, plaintiff served and filed notice of entry of the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and judgment. (AA Vol. 5, AA000968-AA000982)

On September 25, 2017, the court entered a default judgment against Guillory.

(AA Vol. 5, AA000983-AA	.000985)
-------------------------	----------

On September 26, 2017, plaintiff served and filed notice of entry of default judgment. (AA Vol. 5, AA000986-AA000990)

On October 2, 2017, defendant filed a motion for reconsideration, motion for relief, and motion to alter or amend judgment. (AA Vol. 5, AA000991-AA001011)

On October 5, 2017, the court entered an order granting motion for voluntary dismissal as to defendant Cooper Castle Law Firm, LLP. . (AA Vol. 5, AA001012-AA001013)

On October 5, 2017, plaintiff served and filed notice of entry of the order granting motion for voluntary dismissal. (AA Vol. 5, AA001014-AA001017)

On October 17, 2017, plaintiff filed an opposition to defendant's motion for reconsideration, motion for relief, and motion to alter or amend judgment. (AA Vol. 5, AA001018-AA001024)

On December 19, 2017, defendant filed an amended opposition to plaintiff's motion for summary judgment. (AA Vol. 7, AA001161-AA001317)

On January 11, 2018, plaintiff filed a reply to opposition to motion for summary judgment. (AA Vol. 8, AA001318-AA001430)

On December 11, 2018, the court entered findings of fact, conclusions of law,

and judgment granting plaintiff's motion for summary judgment and entering judgment in favor of plaintiff on its quiet title claim. (AA Vol. 8, AA001431-AA001436)

On December 14, 2018, defendant served and filed notice of entry of the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and judgment. (AA Vol. 8, AA001437-AA001446)

On January 7, 2019, defendant filed a notice of appeal. (AA Vol. 8, AA001447-AA001449)

On April 10, 2020, the court of appeals entered an order that cited <u>Daisy Trust</u> v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 135 Nev. 230, 233-34, 445 P.3d 846, 849 (2019), as authority that "a deed of trust need not be assigned to a regulated entity like Freddie Mac in order for it to own the secured loan," and the court of appeals vacated the judgment entered on December 11, 2018 and remanded the case to the district court. (AA Vol. 9, AA001666-AA001668)

On November 9, 2020, defendant filed a motion for summary judgment. (AA Vol. 9, AA001460-AA001668)

On November 23, 2020, plaintiff filed an opposition to defendant's motion for summary judgment. (AA Vol. 10, AA001669-AA001822)

On December 8, 2020, defendant filed a reply supporting its motion for summary judgment. (AA Vol. 10, AA001823-AA001839)

On January 4, 2021, the court entered an order granting defendant's motion for summary judgment. (AA Vol. 10, AA001864-AA001873)

On January 5, 2021, defendant served and filed notice of entry of the order granting defendant's motion for summary judgment. (AA Vol. 10, AA001874-AA001884)

On February 3, 2021, plaintiff filed its notice of appeal. (AA Vol. 10, AA001891-AA001893)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff obtained title to the Property by entering and paying the high bid of \$5,563.00 at a public auction held on August 22, 2013. *See* copy of foreclosure deed recorded on September 6, 2013 at AA Vol. 10, AA001695-AA001697.

The public auction arose from a delinquency in assessments due from Guillory to the HOA pursuant to NRS Chapter 116.

Defendant is the beneficiary by assignment of a deed of trust recorded as an encumbrance against the Property on January 25, 2007. *See* deed of trust at AA Vol. 9, AA001601-AA001627, corporation assignment of deed of trust to Aurora Loan

Services LLC (hereinafter "Aurora"), recorded on February 11, 2011, at AA Vol. 9, AA001629-AA001630, and assignment of deed of trust to defendant, recorded on October 18, 2012, at AA Vol. 9, AA001632.

Paragraph (C) at page 1 of the deed of trust identified First Magnus Financial Corporation as the "Lender." (AA Vol. 9, AA001601, ¶(C))

On August 19, 2011, Leach Johnson Song & Gruchow (hereinafter "foreclosure agent") mailed to Guillory a copy of the notice of delinquent assessment lien for \$1,288.86 that was recorded against the Property on August 18, 2011. (AA Vol. 10, AA001729-1743)

On January 24, 2012, the foreclosure agent recorded a notice of default and election to sell for \$2,361.35 against the Property. (AA Vol. 10, AA001748-1749)

On January 31, 2012, the foreclosure agent mailed copies of the notice of default to Guillory, to MERS and to Aurora. (AA Vol. 10, AA001750-1786)

On July 24, 2012, the foreclosure agent mailed copies of a notice of foreclosure sale for \$3,647.16 to Guillory, to MERS and to Aurora. (AA Vol. 10, AA001795-1816)

On July 30, 2012, the foreclosure agent recorded the notice of foreclosure sale for \$3,647.16 against the Property. (AA Vol. 10, AA001788-1790)

On September 13, 2012, a copy of the notice of foreclosure sale was served Guillory by the posting of a copy of the notice in a conspicuous place on the Property. (AA Vol. 10, AA001818, AA001820)

Beginning on September 13, 2012, copies of the notice of foreclosure sale were posted for 20 days successively in three public places in Clark County, Nevada. (AA Vol. 10, AA001819)

The notice of foreclosure sale was published in the Nevada Legal News on September 20, 2012, September 27, 2012 and October 4, 2012. (AA Vol. 10, AA001822)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The HOA foreclosure sale held on August 22, 2013 extinguished the deed of trust assigned to defendant.

Nevada law controls whether Freddie Mac held any enforceable interest in the Property on August 22, 2013.

Freddie Mac did not comply with Nevada law to hold any enforceable interest in the Guillory deed of trust on August 22, 2013.

The opinions in <u>In re Montierth</u> and <u>Daisy Trust</u> do not excuse Freddie Mac's failure to comply with the mandatory language in NRS 111.205(1) and NRS

111.315.

FHFA consent was not required because Freddie Mac did not hold any enforceable interest in the Guillory deed of trust.

Plaintiff has standing to assert the separate statute of frauds in NRS 111.205(1).

NRS 111.325 expressly protects plaintiff from defendant's unrecorded claim that Freddie Mac held an interest in the Guillory deed of trust.

12 U.S.C. § 4617 does not preempt Nevada's recording statutes that make any interest in the Property claimed by Freddie Mac void as to plaintiff.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In <u>Wood v. Safeway, Inc.</u>, 121 Nev. 724, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005), this Court stated that it "reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo, without deference to the findings of the lower court."

ARGUMENT

1. The HOA foreclosure sale held on August 22, 2013 extinguished the deed of trust assigned to defendant.

NRS 116.3116 (2) provides that an HOA's assessment lien is "prior to all security interests described in paragraph (b) to the extent of any charges incurred by the association on a unit pursuant to NRS 116.310312 and to the extent of the

assessments for common expenses based on the periodic budget adopted by the association pursuant to NRS 116.3115 which would have become due in the absence of acceleration during the 9 months immediately preceding institution of an action to enforce the lien. . . . "

The first deed of trust, recorded on January 25, 2007, falls squarely within the description in NRS 116.3116(2)(b).

In <u>SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.</u>, 130 Nev. 742, 758, 334 P.3d 408, 419 (2014), this court stated:

NRS 116.3116(2) gives an HOA a true superpriority lien, proper foreclosure of which will extinguish a first deed of trust.

The foreclosure deed included specific recitals regarding default, the mailing of each required notice and the posting and publication of the notice of sale. (AA Vol. 10, AA001695-1696)

Exhibits 6 to 10 to plaintiff's opposition also proved that all required notices were timely served, posted, recorded and published as required by Nevada law. (AA Vol. 10, AA001747-AA001822)

The sole exception to the conclusive recitals would be in the case of fraud or other grounds for equitable relief. Shadow Wood Homeowners Association, Inc. v. New York Community Bancorp, Inc., 132 Nev. 49, 56-59, 366 P.3d 1105, 1110-

1112 (2016)(hereinafter "Shadow Wood"). Defendant did not prove that any such grounds exist in the present case.

The foreclosure of the HOA's super priority lien extinguished any estate, right, title, interest or claim in the Property created by the subordinate deed assigned to defendant. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A., 130 Nev. at 757, 334 P.3d at 419.

Title to the real property therefore vested in plaintiff free of the extinguished deed of trust.

2. Nevada law controls whether Freddie Mac held any enforceable interest in the Property on August 22, 2013.

By its express terms, 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) only protects "property of the Agency." 12 U.S.C. § 4502(2) defines the term "Agency" to mean the Federal Housing Finance Agency.

In the present case, paragraph (J) at page 2 of the deed of trust (AA Vol. 10, AA001700, ¶(J)) and Paragraph 16 at page 11 of the deed of trust (AA Vol. 10, AA001709, ¶16) expressly provide that all rights held in the Guillory deed of trust are "subject to" the "requirements and limitations" of Nevada law.

In <u>Butner v. United States</u>, 440 U.S. 48, 55 (1979), the Supreme Court stated that "[p]roperty interests are created and defined by state law."

In <u>Berezovsky v. Moniz</u>, 869 F.3d 923 (9th Cir. 2017), the court of appeals acknowledged that its determination of whether Freddie Mac held an interest in the deed of trust was controlled by Nevada law. The court stated:

Here, we look to the Nevada Supreme Court's resolution of these issues. See Erie R. Co. v. Tompkins, 304 U.S. 64, 78, 58 S.Ct. 817, 82 L.Ed. 1188 (1938) ("Except in matters governed by the Federal Constitution or by acts of Congress, the law to be applied in any case is the law of the state."). (emphasis added)

869 F.3d at 931.

In <u>High v. Ignacio</u>, 408 F.3d 585, 590 (9th Cir. 2005), the court stated that "[t]his court accepts a state court ruling on questions of state law." In addition, the Supreme Court stated in <u>Arizonans for Official English v. Arizona</u>, 520 U.S. 43, 48 (1997), that "[f]ederal courts lack competence to rule definitively on the meaning of state legislation."

In <u>Blanton v. North Las Vegas Municipal Court</u>, 103 Nev. 623, 748 P.2d 494, 500 (1987), this court stated:

We note initially that the decisions of the federal district court and panels of the federal circuit court of appeal are not binding upon this court. United States ex rel. Lawrence v. Woods, 432 F.2d 1072, 1075–76 (7th Cir.1970), cert. denied, 402 U.S. 983, 91 S.Ct. 1658, 29 L.Ed.2d 140 (1971). Even an en banc decision of a federal circuit court would not bind Nevada to restructure the court system of this state.

In addition, this court has stated that the Ninth Circuit's interpretation of Nevada statutes on a matter of state law does not constitute mandatory precedent, but

may be construed as persuasive authority. *See* In re Nevada State Engineer Ruling

No. 5823, 128 Nev. 232, 277 P.3d 449, 456 (2012); Custom Cabinet Factory of New

York, Inc. v. District Ct., 119 Nev. 51, 54, 62 P.3d 741, 742-743 (2003).

3. Freddie Mac did not comply with Nevada law to hold any enforceable interest in the Guillory deed of trust on August 22, 2013.

As discussed at pages 6 to 11 of plaintiff's opposition (AA Vol. 9, AA001674-AA001679), Freddie Mac did not comply with Nevada law to hold an enforceable interest in the Guillory deed of trust on August 22, 2013.

Under Nevada law, any transfer of an interest in a deed of trust is a conveyance of land that must comply with the statute of frauds found in NRS 111.205(1).

NRS 111.205(1) expressly provides that Freddie Mac could not hold any interest in the Guillory deed of trust unless there is a "deed or conveyance, in writing, subscribed by the party creating, granting, assigning, surrendering or declaring the same."

NRS 111.010(1) broadly defines the word "conveyance" to include "every instrument in writing, except a last will and testament, whatever may be its form, and by whatever name it may be known in law, by which any interest in lands is created, aliened, assigned or surrendered." (emphasis added)

In Leyva v. National Default Servicing Corp., 127 Nev. 470, 255 P.3d 1275, 1 2 1279 (2011), this court stated: 3 A deed of trust is an instrument that "secure[s] the performance of an obligation or the payment of any debt." NRS 107.020. This court has 4 previously held that a deed of trust "constitutes a conveyance of land as defined by NRS 111.010." Ray v. Hawkins, 76 Nev. 164, 166, 350 5 P.2d 998, 999 (1960). The statute of frauds governs when a 6 conveyance creates or assigns an interest in land: 7 No estate or interest in lands, ... nor any trust or power 8 over or concerning lands, or in any manner relating thereto, shall be created, granted, assigned, surrendered or declared ..., unless ... by deed or conveyance, in writing, subscribed by the party creating, granting, assigning, surrendering or declaring the same, or by the 9 10 party's lawful agent thereunto authorized in writing. 11 NRS 111.205(1) (emphases added). Thus, to prove that MortgageIT 12 properly assigned its interest in land via the deed of trust to Wells Fargo, Wells Fargo needed to provide a signed writing from 13 MortgageIT demonstrating that transfer of interest. No such assignment was provided at the mediation or to the district court, and the statement from Wells Fargo itself is insufficient proof of 14 assignment. Absent a proper assignment of a deed of trust, Wells Fargo lacks standing to pursue foreclosure proceedings against Leyva. 15 16 (emphasis added) 17 The "conveyance, in writing" required by NRS 111.205(1) is not limited to 18 19 a deed of trust or an assignment of deed of trust, but includes every "conveyance, in 20 writing" by which defendant claims that Freddie Mac acquired an interest in the 21 22 Guillory deed of trust before August 22, 2013. 23 In Occhiuto v. Occhiuto 97 Nev. 143, 147, 625 P.2d 568, 570 (1981), this 24 25 court unequivocally stated: 26 The law of this state specifically precludes the creation of any interest in land except by a properly executed written instrument. NRS 27

111.205(1).

28

NRS 111.315 states that "[e]very conveyance of real property. . . **shall** be recorded. . . . " (emphasis added)

Because the signed writing required by NRS 111.205(1) for Freddie Mac to hold any interest in the Guillory deed of trust is a "conveyance," NRS 111.315 required that the signed writing be recorded.

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