#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

SATICOY BAY LLC SERIES 4641 VIAREGGIO CT,

Appellant,

VS.

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE LLC,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Aug 13 2021 04:22 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Case No. 8 clerk of Supreme Court

#### APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Department XIV
The Honorable Adriana Escobar, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-13-689240-C

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

#### **AKERMAN LLP**

ARIEL E. STERN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8276
MELANIE D. MORGAN ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8215
LILITH V. XARA, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 13138
1635 Village Center Circle, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134

Attorneys for Respondent Nationstar Mortgage LLC

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The district court correctly held that the Federal Foreclosure Bar protected Freddie Mac's Deed of Trust from extinguishment through the HOA Sale.

Each of Saticoy Bay's challenges to Freddie Mac's property interest—that (1) the type and amount of evidence Nationstar proffered did not suffice to establish Freddie Mac's ownership interest; (2) Freddie Mac did not hold a valid interest in the Deed of Trust because Nationstar served as record beneficiary of that instrument; and (3) Freddie Mac's acquisition of the Loan purportedly did not comply with the statute of frauds—fails. Saticoy Bay's contention that FHFA's consent was not necessary to extinguish the Deed of Trust is also incorrect. This Court has rejected

each of these arguments in cases similar to this one, or in precedential decisions arising in other contexts.

Nor does Saticoy Bay qualify as a bona fide purchaser under Nevada law. Even if it did, the Federal Foreclosure Bar would preempt that doctrine to the extent it would otherwise allow for the extinguishment of Freddie Mac's Deed of Trust.

This Court should affirm.<sup>3</sup>

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The District Court Correctly Concluded That the Federal Foreclosure Bar Protected Freddie Mac's Deed of Trust from Extinguishment.
  - A. The Evidence and Case Law Establish That the Federal Foreclosure Bar Applies Here.

Saticoy Bay argues that the Federal Foreclosure Bar did not protect the Deed of Trust because Nationstar failed to establish that Freddie Mac had a valid property interest under Nevada law (both as an evidentiary and as a legal matter), and because FHFA's consent to extinguish the Deed of Trust was not required. *See generally* AOB 14-38.<sup>4</sup> These arguments lack merit. The district court properly concluded

Nationstar reserves the right to seek sanctions in cases in which an opposing party presents arguments that this Court has previously foreclosed by published precedent, where (as here) the party makes no effort to argue for reversal or modification of that precedent.

To the extent Saticoy Bay contends that the Deed of Trust was extinguished under *SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.*, 334 P.3d 408 (Nev. 2014), AOB 11-12, that is wrong; that decision did not address HERA, and subsequent *Footnote continues on next page.* 

that the Federal Foreclosure Bar preserved the Deed of Trust because Freddie Mac owned the Loan at the time of the HOA Sale and FHFA did not waive the Federal Foreclosure Bar's protection. 13 AA001868-71.

Saticoy Bay's arguments contravene many decisions of this Court<sup>5</sup> and the Ninth Circuit<sup>6</sup> holding that an HOA foreclosure sale cannot extinguish an Enterprise's property interests while it is in conservatorship, that an Enterprise's authenticated business records and Guide excerpts establish an Enterprise's loan ownership, and that FHFA must affirmatively consent to the extinguishment of conservatorship property. In fact, in a similar appeal the Ninth Circuit found that Saticoy Bay LLC, Series 9229 Millikan Avenue and its attorney (Mr. Bohn) "presented at least a dozen arguments ... [that were] either squarely foreclosed by on-point Ninth Circuit and Nevada Supreme Court precedent or are wholly without merit" and issued an order to show cause why they "should not be sanctioned and/or ordered to pay the attorneys' fees and costs incurred by appellee in defending against [Saticoy Bay's] meritless claims." *See* Order at 2-3, *Nationstar Mortg. LLC v.* 

cases have confirmed that the Federal Foreclosure Bar preempts NRS 116.3116. *See Daisy Trust*, 445 P.3d at 847.

Footnote continues on next page.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See, e.g., Daisy Trust, 445 P.3d at 847; Christine View, 417 P.3d at 368.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See, e.g., Nationstar Mortg. LLC v. Saticoy Bay LLC, Series 9229 Millikan Ave., 996 F.3d 950, 954 (9th Cir. 2021); FHFA v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC, 893 F.3d 1136, 1149 (9th Cir. 2018), cert. denied, 139 S. Ct. 1618 (2019); Berezovsky v. Moniz, 869 F.3d 923, 929-31 (9th Cir. 2017).

Saticoy Bay LLC, Series 9229 Millikan Ave., No. 19-17043 (9th Cir. May 5, 2021) (ECF No. 55). Saticoy Bay raises many of those same arguments here. And before that Order issued, Saticoy Bay and Mr. Bohn had been twice admonished for "advancing these same, explicitly rejected arguments ... [in] non-meritorious appeals." Alessi & Koenig, LLC v. Saticoy Bay LLC Series 10250 Sun Dusk Lane, 804 F. App'x 475, 477-78 (9th Cir. 2020); Ditech Fin. LLC v. Saticoy Bay LLC Series 829 Cornwall Glen, 794 F. App'x 667, 668-69 (9th Cir. 2020) (warning Saticoy Bay's counsel against "taking positions that are irreconcilable with published, on-point decisions," and warning them "not to raise such meritless arguments in the future.").

Saticoy Bay's approach to this appeal may be motivated by its incentive to prolong this litigation. Any delay in a final judgment accrues to Saticoy Bay's benefit; having acquired the Property at far less than fair market value, Saticoy Bay may reap substantial profits by renting it out at market rates. Meanwhile, Freddie Mac—which made a substantially larger, market-priced investment in the now-defaulted loan secured by the Property—receives no return whatsoever. In substance, until this case is resolved, Saticoy Bay will reap an improper return on Freddie Mac's capital investment. Moreover, at least five notices of claims of lien

Briefing ordered by the Ninth Circuit in response to the Order to Show Cause is complete. No ruling has issued.

for solid waste service have been recorded against the Property since November 2018 for Saticoy Bay's failure to pay the amount of the charges, fees, and penalties in connection with solid waste collection. *See* Ex. A. Perhaps in recognition of the futility of its arguments and the eventuality of losing title, Saticoy Bay appears to be milking the property for current income while attempting to foist responsibility for current expenses onto the next owner.

- 1. Freddie Mac Has and Had at the Time of the HOA Sale a Valid Property Interest.
  - a. Nationstar's Evidence Established Freddie Mac's Loan Ownership.

The district court correctly found that the evidence established Freddie Mac's ownership of the Loan and its relationship with Nationstar at the time of the HOA Sale. *See* 13 AA001868-71. The district court based its findings on Freddie Mac's business records, declaration testimony from a Freddie Mac employee, and relevant Guide excerpts. *Id.* Saticoy Bay provided no evidence to contradict or call into question the reliability or accuracy of Freddie Mac's records.

Freddie Mac provided business records supported by an employee declaration describing and authenticating the records. *See* 9 AA001487-1500. As explained in Freddie Mac's employee declaration, the data from Freddie Mac's business records state that Freddie Mac acquired ownership of the Loan in March 2007 and continued to own the Loan at the time of the HOA Sale in August 2013. *See* 9 AA001482-83

¶ 5(d)-(f), (n); 9 AA001488-1490. That evidence also states that at the time of the HOA Sale, Nationstar served as the Deed of Trust's record beneficiary in its capacity as Freddie Mac's servicer. *See* 9 AA001482-83 ¶ 5(d)-(f), (i)-(j); 12 AA001632. Freddie Mac's declaration confirms that the relationship between Freddie Mac and its servicers, including Nationstar, is governed by the Guide. 9 AA001485-86 ¶5(l).

This Court has repeatedly held that the same type of uncontroverted evidence submitted here is admissible and establishes an Enterprise's acquisition and ownership of a loan. *See Daisy Trust*, 445 P.3d at 850-51; *Citimortgage, Inc. v. River Glider Ave. Tr.*, No. 75294, 2020 WL 3415781, at \*1 (Nev. June 19, 2020) (unpublished disposition); *JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. v. Guberland LLC-Series 2* (*Guberland II*), No. 73196, 2019 WL 2339537, at \*2 (Nev. May 31, 2019) (unpublished disposition). The Ninth Circuit has repeatedly reached the same conclusion. *E.g., Berezovsky*, 869 F.3d at 932-33 & n.8; *Millikan*, 996 F.3d at 956-57. Nationstar's evidence proves Freddie Mac's ownership of the Loan.

Saticoy Bay suggests that Nationstar's evidence is insufficient because Freddie Mac's employee declaration says only that "Freddie Mac acquired ownership of the Loan, which specifically includes both the Note and the Deed of Trust, on or about March 29, 2007, and has owned it ever since," AOB 16 (quoting 9 AA001482-83 ¶ 5(d)), but does *not* "state that the 'conveyance in writing' to Freddie Mac' ... existed for the [Loan]," *id*. This Court has not required the

production of any written conveyance to prove Freddie Mac's loan ownership where Freddie Mac's business records and declaration establish that fact. Indeed, although in *Daisy Trust* the servicer did not "produce a signed writing" of the sort Saticoy Bay references, *see* Appellant's Opening Br. at 12, *Daisy Trust*, 445 P.3d 846 (Nev. 2019) (No. 72747), the absence of that evidence did not give the Court pause. The Court instead held that Freddie Mac's and its servicer's business records and declarations were admissible and "probative" of Freddie Mac's acquisition of the loan. 445 P.3d at 850.

Nor is Saticoy Bay entitled to the benefit of either the presumption under NRS 47.240(2), which entitles a party to rely on "the truth of the fact recited, from the recital in a written instrument between the parties ....", or NRS 47.240(3), which provides that when "a party has ... intentionally and deliberately led another to believe a particular thing true and to act upon such belief, the party cannot, in any litigation arising out of such declaration, act or omission, be permitted to falsify it." *See* AOB 24. Neither presumption applies here, let alone suggests that any entity other than Freddie Mac owns the Deed of Trust. This Court has already rejected a similar argument regarding NRS 47.240's conclusive presumptions as "unconvincing." *Nationstar Mortg., LLC v. BDJ Invs., LLC*, No. 75480, 2019 WL 6208548, at \*1 n.3 (Nev. Nov. 20, 2019) (unpublished disposition).

NRS 47.240(2) applies only in a dispute "between the parties" to a written instrument. *Flangas v. State*, 104 Nev. 379, 381 (1988). As the Ninth Circuit concluded, Saticoy Bay "cannot invoke the presumption in [NRS 47.240(2)]" because it "was not party either to the deed of trust or its subsequent transfer to [the Enterprise]." *Fannie Mae v. Saticoy Bay LLC Series 6671 W. Tropicana 103*, 839 F. App'x 45, 48 n.2 (9th Cir. 2020); *see also Nationstar Mortg., LLC v. Eldorado Neighborhood Second Homeowners Ass'n*, No. 2:15-cv-00064-JAD-BNW, 2019 WL 4120797, \*5 (D. Nev. Aug. 29, 2019). The Ninth Circuit has also held that NRS 47.240(2) "is inapplicable" because "Nevada law permits [an Enterprise] to record its property interest" with its contractually authorized representative as its deed of trust beneficiary. *Tropicana*, 839 F. App'x at 48 n.2.

Nor does NRS 47.240(3) apply, because there was no "intentional[] and deliberate[]" attempt to mislead Saticoy Bay into believing Nationstar owned the Loan or to otherwise "falsify" the Deed of Trust. *See* NRS 47.240(3); AOB 24. The Ninth Circuit has held that NRS 47.240(3) did not apply in similar circumstances because, as here, "there's no evidence [the Enterprise] intentionally misled Saticoy Bay (or anyone) and falsified the deed." *Tropicana*, 839 F. App'x at 48 n.2.8 Indeed, the Deed of Trust does not identify the entity that owned it. Freddie Mac followed

In *Tropicana*, the Ninth Circuit cited to NRS 47.240(2) in its discussion, but presumably intended to cite NRS 47.240(3), given that only NRS 47.240(3) describes "falsif[ication]" and "intentionally" misleading another entity.

Nevada law in recording the Deed of Trust in the name of its contractually authorized servicer. *Daisy Trust*, 445 P.3d at 849; *infra*, at 23-25.

# b. Freddie Mac Owns the Deed of Trust While Nationstar Serves as Record Beneficiary.

Saticoy Bay claims that "Freddie Mac did not comply with Nevada law to hold any interest in the [Deed of Trust]" on the date of the HOA Sale. *See* AOB 14; *see generally id.* at 14-24. That argument is frivolous, as it directly contradicts the law of this case and precedent from this Court and the Ninth Circuit. At the time of the HOA Sale, Freddie Mac's ownership interest in the Deed of Trust was valid under Nevada law because the recorded assignment named Freddie Mac's Loan servicer as beneficiary.

Contrary to what Saticoy Bay's brief suggests, AOB 12-14, 45, Nationstar does not dispute that Nevada law determines Freddie Mac's property interest here. Rather, Nationstar argues that Freddie Mac maintained ownership of the Deed of Trust while Nationstar served as record beneficiary. Nor does Nationstar suggest that Freddie Mac could or did "contract around" Nevada law by permitting Nationstar to serve as record beneficiary of the Deed of Trust. *See* AOB 23.

Saticoy Bay's emphasis on the non-binding nature of Ninth Circuit cases, AOB 20-21, is inconsequential. *Berezovsky* and cases citing it are persuasive because they rely on the principles enunciated in *Montierth*. *See* 869 F.3d at 932-33; AOB 13 (acknowledging that *Berezovsky* looked to Nevada law in assessing Freddie Mac's property interest). This Court has approvingly cited *Berezovsky* in holding that "Nevada law does not require the deed of trust to name the note owner." *Guberland II*, 2019 WL 2339537, at \*2, and often cites to Ninth Circuit decisions in cases implicating the Federal Foreclosure Bar, *e.g.*, *JPMorgan Chase Bank*, *N.A. v. SFR Invs. Pool 1*, *LLC*, 475 P.3d 52, 56-57 (Nev. 2020) (citing several Ninth Circuit cases).

# (i) Law-of-the-Case Doctrine Precludes Saticoy Bay's Recordation-Based Arguments Questioning Freddie Mac's Property Interest.

Saticoy Bay offers various iterations of the argument that Freddie Mac lacked a valid property interest because it did not appear as the Deed of Trust's record beneficiary at the time of the HOA Sale. *See*, *e.g.*, AOB 15-19. But that issue was already decided against Saticoy Bay in a prior appeal in this case. Specifically, the Nevada Court of Appeals held that "the district court erred in concluding that Freddie Mac's interest needed to be recorded [in its own name] in order for the Federal Foreclosure Bar to apply." 12 AA001667.

Under the law-of-the-case doctrine, this Court should not re-address the issue of whether Freddie Mac owned the Loan at the time of the HOA Sale because the Nevada Court of Appeals has already decided it.<sup>11</sup> "The law-of-the-case doctrine 'refers to a family of rules embodying the general concept that a court involved in later phases of a lawsuit should not re-open questions decided (i.e., established as law of the case) by that court or a higher one in earlier phases." *Reconstrust Co. v. Zhang*, 317 P.3d 814, 818 (Nev. 2014) (citing *Crocker v. Piedmont Aviation, Inc.*, 49 F.3d 735, 739 (D.C. Cir. 1995)). Law-of-the case "doctrine posits that when a court decides upon a rule of law, that decision should continue to govern the same

An unpublished disposition of the Nevada Court of Appeals may be cited to "establish mandatory precedent" and "law of the case" "in a subsequent stage of a case in which the unpublished disposition was entered." NRAP 36(c)(2).

issues in subsequent stages in the same case." *Arizona v. California*, 460 U.S. 605, 618 (1983).

Because the Nevada Court of Appeals already concluded in this case that Freddie Mac's interest did not need to be recorded in its own name, this Court should not re-visit the same issue.

## (ii) Montierth and Daisy Trust Control This Case.

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